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Executive Summary

This heritage research report has been completed by Town of Oakville Heritage Planning staff
to provide historical research of the property at 2487 Old Bronte Road, and an evaluation of the
property’s cultural heritage value according to the criteria in Ontario Regulation 9/06. Where a
property is shown to have sufficient heritage value by meeting the criteria outlined in O.Reg
9/06, the implementation of measures to protect its identified cultural heritage value are merited
under the Ontario Heritage Act.

The subject property is currently listed on the Town of Oakville Heritage Register as a non-
designated property. It was added in 2009 for the potential heritage value of its circa 1925 brick
Edwardian style house. The property contains the two and half storey brick house along with a
detached garage that was constructed in the late 1980s. It is located within Palermo Village,
which is the oldest settlement in present day Oakville.

On July 5, 2021 Town of Oakville Planning and Development Council directed Planning staff to
proactively examine listed (non-designated) heritage properties within Palermo Village and,
should a property meet the criteria for designation under the Ontario Heritage Act, recommend
to Council that notice be given to designate the property.

This report provides the basis for determining if the property at 2487 Old Bronte Road has
sufficient heritage value to be recommended to Council for designation under Part IV of the
Ontario Heritage Act, as per the above noted recommendation.

The cultural heritage evaluation outlined in this report has demonstrated that the subject
property at 2487 Old Bronte Road has design/physical, historical/associative and contextual
cultural heritage value according to the criteria in O.Reg. 9/06, as follows:

e Design/Physical Value: The property is a representative example of a vernacular
Edwardian dwelling that also shares characteristics of the American Foursquare type of
home.

e Historical/Associative Value: The property was the home of George Stanley and
Fannie Ethel Wood who were the proprietors of the general store that was located at the
northeast corner of Dundas Street West and Bronte Road (now Old Bronte Road) from
approximately 1920 to 1945. The corner store was a community hub during the peak
period of Palermo’s development in the early 20" century.

e Contextual Value: The property supports and maintains the historic residential
character of the village of Palermo and is historically, visually and physically linked to its
surroundings.

Given that the property meets the O.Reg 9/06 criteria, it is considered to be a significant built
cultural heritage resource, and is therefore recommended for designation under Part IV of
the Ontario Heritage Act. As per the requirements of the Ontario Heritage Act, a Statement of
Cultural Heritage Value or Interest, including a description of the heritage attributes that
exemplify the home’s cultural heritage value, has been prepared and is included in Section 6 of
this report.



1.0 Site History

The 1806 Wilmot Survey shows the 200 acre township lot parcel at Lot 30, Concession 1 South
of Dundas Street (SDS), within which the parcel that is now known as 2487 Old Bronte Road is
located. The 1806 Wilmot Survey shows that Bildad Simons was on the land at the time.
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Figure 1: 1806 Wilmot Survey, Trafalgar Township South
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A review of the Land Registry Office chain of title documents shows that the Crown granted the
land patent to Bildad Simons in 1808, and it was sold to Charles Teetzel in 1812. By 1830, the
first of multiple small quarter acre or larger lots had been severed from the original township lot.
In 1843 a quarter acre parcel in the northwest half of Lot 30, which became the subject site was
severed and sold to Robert Miller. Land Registry Office documents show that the quarter acre
parcel changed ownership various times through the latter half of the 19" century until it was
purchased in 1905 by Mary Ann Harrod, wife of labourer Samuel Harrod. After Mary Ann
Harrod’s death in 1910, the property was transferred to merchant George Stanley Wood in
1924. Subsequent to George Stanley Wood’s death in 1945, the property was transferred to his
wife, Fanny Ethel Wood in 1946, and later to Tobias Hogeveen in 1979. See Appendix A for a
summary of the ownership history (from 1808 to 2007) for the section of the property on which
the existing house was built.

The subject property remained the same rectangular quarter acre parcel until the 1980s. From a
review of the Land Registry Office documents, it appears that an approximate 410 square metre
portion of land was added to north side of the subject property at 2487 Old Bronte Road in
1984. Subsequently, an approximately 374 square metre portion of land on the parcel’s south
side was combined in 1986 to the property to the south at 2477 Old Bronte Road. See Figure 2
and 3 below for the original and current configuration of the subject parcel.



Figure 2: Outline of
original parcel
configuration from 1843
to 1984

Figure 3: Outline of
current parcel
configuration
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The 1861 Census of Canada record shows that a single storey wood frame house had been

built on the subject property as early as 1850 when Thomas Robinson owned the property

(Figure 4). By 1921, the Census of Canada shows that George Stanley Wood along with his

wife Fanny Ethel Wood and one year old son, William Donald were tenants on the subject

property (Figure 5). At that time, the property was owned by Samuel Harrod (the estate of Mary
Ann Harrod who died in 1910). The Census notes that the house in 1921 was a brick structure
with six rooms occupied by the Wood family. George Stanley Wood is noted as a store-keeper

at the time.
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Figure 5: 1921 Census of Canada showmg G.S. Wood and family rentmg the subject property
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Figure 4: 1861 Census of Canada showing Thomas Robinson on the subject property

SIXTH CENSUS OF CANADA, 1921
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In 1924, the Land Registry Office documents show that the quarter acre property was granted to
George Stanley Wood from the estate of Mary Ann Harrod for one dollar, however, an
accompanying affidavit acknowledges the value of the land including premises being $550
(Figure 6). Available assessment roll data from both 1917 and 1919 show that the total value of
the property including buildings was $250 with the parcel itself consisting of $100 of that value
(see Appendix B for scans of the

i The Land Transfers Tar Fct 1921
assessment and collector roll data).

Although it cannot be confirmed, the 3. George Stanley Wood, of the Village of Pelsrmo, in the

i i ™ hip of Trefelgar, in the County of Heltonm, Merohant,
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have corresponded to an upgrade to the T make oath and say i

property such as a brick addition to the

home ®hwt the full and true parchase price of the lands and promises l.buan
H . eril including an perty, security or thing giveu s consideration is

However, the home that existed in 1924 at L % M = »

2487 Old Bronte Road is unlikely to be the o S

same home as the existing home based on ,,MW

a review of the assessment and collector roll ‘= %
data for the subject property and using ‘“:&%_T’j
neighbouring properties as a measure for onrLoxd 83
comparison (see Table 1 below for a =
comparison of similar area properties). 5. cace - >
Nearby brick dwellings of a comparable size  Figure 6: 1924 affidavit signed by G.S. Wood
to the existing home at 2487 Old Bronte

Road that had been built at the time had a substantially higher value. For example, the
neighbouring John Marshall property (also known as the Wetlauffer home) built in 1909 on an
equivalently sized quarter acre lot at 2467 Old Bronte Road was assessed at $1600 in 1925.
Similarly, the brick Anson Buck property built in 1860 at 2495 Old Bronte Road was assessed at
$1600, although with the larger four acre parcel consisting of $400 of that value. By 1925, the

collector roll data shows that the property at 2487 Old Bronte Road had a lower assessed value
of $300.

Figure 7: The Anson Buck house at 2495 Old Bronte Road (left) and the John Marshall/Wetlauffer
house at 2467 Old Bronte Road circa (right)



Available data shows that by 1932 the assessed value of the property at 2487 Old Bronte Road
had increased substantially to $1400 while remaining a quarter acre in size. The value of both
the John Marshall/Wetlauffer property and the Anson Buck property remained relatively
constant or decreased over this timeframe, indicating that the increased assessment of the
subject property was not due to a general increase of property values over this period. It is likely
that the existing brick home was constructed in this period, between 1926 and 1932, to account
for the $1100 increase in assessed property value since 1925. The similarly sized John
Marshall/Wetlauffer property had a comparable assessment of $1500 in 1932. This period
coincides with the growing G.S. Wood family, as their second child, James Norman Wood was
born in 1925. The increased family size may have been the reason for building a larger home.

Table 1: Property Value Comparison

Property Year Lot Material Total Value of Real Property ($)
Jmie | dEglesEien 1917 | 1919 | 1924 | 1925 | 1932
2487 Old Bronte Rd | 1926- Con.1 SDS; Lot Brick 250 | 250 | 550* | 300 1400
(Wood House) 1932 30
(current | % acre
home)
2495 Old Bronte Rd | 1860 Con. 1SDS; Lot | Brick 1600 | 1600 | No 1600 | 1600
(Buck House) 30 data
4 acres
2467 Old Bronte Rd | 1909 Con.1 SDS; Lot Brick 1800 | 1800 | No 1600 | 1500
(Marshall/ 30 data
Wetlauffer House) Y% acre
H. Lawrence House | Pre- Con.1 SDS: Lot Wood 400 400 No 800 800
1921 30 data
Y acre
Hallie Vansickle Pre- Con.1 SDS; Lot Wood No 800 No 800 800
House (niece of 1921 31 data data
Ettie Book) % acre

*$500 value is from affidavit signed by G.S. Wood from the 1924 property transfer. It includes the total
value of the parcel and premises.

**Parcel value for each property remained constant at $100 of the total value of real property over each
year with the exception of 2495 Old Bronte Road which was $400

***Material is from 1921 Census of Canada records



2.0 Design and Physical Value

The home is a two and a half storey brick dwelling with a simple and formal composition
representative of vernacular Edwardian architecture that was common for dwellings built in
Ontario in the early 20" century. The home’s shape and form shares characteristics of the
American Foursquare type of home and is also relatively unadorned by classical elements. This
is indicative of the late Edwardian period in which the home was built, signaling a transition
towards the more modern, less historical compositions of the Prairie and Craftsmen styles.

The home is built with an approximately square plan, with the front entrance offset to the south
side of the front facade. It has a small front porch set on brick piers, upon which sit squared
wood half columns that support a small hipped porch roof that reflects the hipped roof of the
home. There is a front dormer centered on the roof that is likely to be original to the home with
the exception of an enlarged window opening and window that is a later alteration. The dormer’s
profile reflects the simplified hipped form of the roof. The window openings feature segmental
arches with vertically laid bricks forming flat or jack arches above the windows and stone sills.
The windows on each elevation are modern replacements. There is a thin, single chimney on
the rear side of the home.

There is a double garage at the northeast corner of the property that has no cultural heritage
value. According to town records, a building permit was issued for the garage in 1988.

Figure 9: Ester (016)
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Figure 12: 1971 photos of 2491 Old Bronte Road and 2487 Old Bronte Road, which can be seen
on the right in each photo

3.0 Historical or Associative Value

Land Registry records show that by 1924 the property at 2487 Old Bronte Road was owned by
George Stanley Wood who was married to Fannie Ethel Wood, nee Popplewell. The property
remained in the Wood family until 1979. The house is estimated to have been built for their
growing family in between 1926 to 1932, which included their two children: William Donald (born
1920) and James Norman (born 1926).
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George Stanley Wood (also referred to as Stanley Wood) and Fannie Ethel Wood were the
proprietors of the general store that was located at the northeast corner of Dundas Street and
Bronte Road (now Old Bronte Road) in the early to mid-20" century. The corner general store
was one of two general stores in Palermo Village in the early 20" century and played an
important commercial and public function serving the needs of the local population of Palermo
Village. The general store included the village’s post office, a public telephone and a telephone
switchboard exchange that was operated by Fannie Ethel Wood. George Stanley was noted as
being both a merchant and postmaster on his certificate of death.

The corner general store had been rebuilt in 1900 after a fire had destroyed the original general
store that had been constructed in 1843. Lawrence Hagar was the owner at the time. After
James Dobson’s brief ownership of the store, it was owned by George Stanley’s father, William
Wood, from approximately 1908 to 1920 after which George Stanley Wood and Harry Hicks
took over the store. The 1921 Census of Canada confirms George Stanley Wood as a Store-
Keeper at that time. After Harry Hicks retired in 1927, George Stanley Wood continued as the
general store’s proprietor along with Fannie Ethel until his death in 1945 at the age of 53.
Fannie Ethel continued to work at the store as an employee when it was owned by R.B McGill
who purchased the store from the Wood family in the latter half of the 1940’s.

THE OLD STORE AND HOTEL AT PALERMO taken about 1900,
looking west. In the buggy is old Grandad Sargent who used to drive
the mail to Bronte station.

Figure 13: An image taken from a privately published book showing the old store and hotel
in Palermo in about 1900
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Figure 14: A postcard image of the general store under James Dobson’s ownership from
July 1908

Figure 15: Palermo postcard showing the corner general store at the corner of Dundas
Street and Bronte Road with a ‘G.S. Wood’ sign on its west side
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Figure 16: Fannie Ethel Wood as an employee of the corner general store during R.B McGill’s
ownership of the store after George Stanley Wood’s death

4.0 Contextual Value

The property at 2487 Old Bronte Road is located on the east side of Old Bronte Road and south
of Dundas Street West in the historic village of Palermo. Established in 1806 along the Dundas
Street military route from Toronto to Dundas, Palermo is the oldest settlement in present day
Oakville. Dundas Street was a major transportation route in the 19" century and became a
significant junction once Highway 25 (Bronte Road) that connected Bronte to Milton intersected
Dundas Street, making Palermo a stop for travelers and a centre for the surrounding agricultural
area. By 1920, Palermo had become a well-established settlement that had approximately 30
houses, a community hall, a school, an implement factory, a sawmill, two churches, two general
stores, a park and an implements store.

The property at 2487 Old Bronte Road is historically, visually and physically linked to its
surroundings. While the immediate context has undergone significant urbanization through the
construction and expansion of Bronte Road and Dundas Street West together with the
construction of new condominium buildings and plazas at Dundas Street West and Old Bronte
Road, there remains a cluster of historical dwellings in the immediate area along Old Bronte Rd,
that are associated with the development of Palermo. Together these dwellings with their late
19" and early 20™ century architectural styles continue to characterize the area as a historic
settlement and are a reminder of the historical role that Palermo Village played as a
transportation hub and in the development of agriculture in Trafalgar Township. Furthermore,
the dwelling has a historic link to the commercial history of Palermo as it was home to the Wood

13



family who ran the general store that was formerly located close by at the corner of Dundas
Street West and Old Bronte Road. The dwelling at 2487 Old Bronte Road supports and
maintains the area’s character as a settlement that developed and evolved in the 19" to mid-
20" century through the home’s location both on its original parcel and in proximity to

neighbouring historic properties of Palermo and also through its early 20" century vernacular
Edwardian architectural style.

Figure 17: Postcard of Palermo looking south along Bronte Road from Dundas

Street. The Lawrence Foundry building is on the left and the Community Hall can be
seen on the right

Figure 18: An aerial view of Palermo looking southwest from the 1950’s. The home at
2487 Old Bronte Road can be seen at the left edge of the photo (circled)
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5.0 Evaluation of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

The subject property has been researched and evaluated in order to determine its cultural
heritage significance according to Ontario Regulation 9/06. This Regulation, defined in the
Ontario Heritage Act, outlines several criteria for determining whether a property is of cultural
heritage value or interest. In order for a property to be designated under section 29 of the
Ontario Heritage Act it must meet one or more of these criteria, which are outlined below. By
using these criteria, staff can determine if the property’s cultural heritage value or interest merits
designation under the Ontario Heritage Act.

1. The property has design value or physical value because it,

i. is arare, unique, representative or early example of a style, type, expression, material
or construction method,

The house at 2487 Old Bronte Road is a representative example of a simple, vernacular
Edwardian home that also shares characteristics of the American Foursquare type of home. The
two and a half storey brick residence has a cubic shape, a hip roof with hipped dormer and simple,
heavy front entrance porch accentuating an off-centered front entrance.

ii. displays a high degree of craftsmanship or artistic merit
The house displays a standard degree of craftsmanship typical of the era.

iii.demonstrates a high degree of technical or scientific achievement
There are no technical or scientific achievements associated with this property.

2. The property has historical value or associative value because it,

i. has direct associations with a theme, event, belief, person, activity, organization or
institution that is significant to a community,

The subject property is associated with George Stanley and Fannie Ethel Wood, who were the
proprietors of the corner general store in Palermo, Oakville’s oldest community, from
approximately 1920 to 1945. Being the location of the local post office and a telephone
switchboard exchange, the general store was an important hub in Palermo during the village’s
peak years in the first half of the 20" century.

ii. yields, or has the potential to yield, information that contributes to an understanding
of a community or culture, or

The subject property has the potential to yield additional information regarding the early to mid
20™ century community of Palermo.

iii.demonstrates or reflects the work or ideas of an architect, artist, builder, designer or
theorist who is significant to a community.
Not applicable to this property.

3. The property has contextual value because it,

i. isimportant in defining, maintaining or supporting the character of an area,
The property supports and maintains the historic residential character of the village of Palermo.

ii. is physically, functionally, visually or historically linked to its surroundings, or
The subject property is historically, visually and physically linked to its surroundings.

iii.is alandmark.
The property is a not a landmark.
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6.0 Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

Description of Property

The G.S. Wood property at 2487 Old Bronte Road is located on the east side of Old Bronte
Road, south of Dundas Street West and north of Pine Glen Road in the Town of Oakville. The
property contains a two and a half storey brick home with a cubic shape, a hip roof with hipped
dormer and a simple, front entrance porch accentuating an off-centered front entrance. The
house was constructed in between 1926 and 1932.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

Design and Physical Value

The home has design/physical value as a representative example of a vernacular Edwardian
dwelling. The modest Edwardian style is demonstrated in the simple but formal combination of
its exterior building features including its two and half storey form, brick construction, hipped
roof with centre dormer, narrow segmentally arched windows topped with flat brick arches and
the offset front entrance accentuated by a small rectangular front porch with brick piers and
squared half columns. The home’s cubic shape and overall form also share characteristics of
the American Foursquare type of home. The home is relatively unadorned by classical elements
which is indicative of a shift in design trends towards the more modern, less historical
compositions of the late Edwardian period in which the home was built.

Historical and Associative Value

The property has historical and associative value as the home of George Stanley and Fannie
Ethel Wood who were the proprietors of the general store that was located at the northeast
corner of Dundas Street West and Bronte Road (now Old Bronte Road) from approximately
1920 to 1945. The corner general store was one of two general stores in the village of Palermo,
which is the oldest settlement in present day Oakville. The Woods ran the general store at the
peak of Palermo’s development in the early 20" century. The store played an important
commercial and public function serving the needs of the local population as it included the
village’s post office with George Stanley Wood being the postmaster. Additionally, the store had
a public telephone and a telephone switchboard exchange that was operated by Fannie Ethel
Wood.

Contextual Value

The property at 2487 Old Bronte Road supports and maintains the character of the area as a
historic settlement that developed and evolved in the 19" to mid-20" century through the
home’s location both on its original parcel and in proximity to neighbouring historic properties of
Palermo, and also through its early 20" century vernacular Edwardian architectural style. The
property is also historically, visually and physically linked to its surroundings. While the area has
been urbanized, there remains a cluster of historical dwellings in the immediate area along Old
Bronte Road that are associated with the development of Palermo. Together these dwellings,
with their late 19™ and early 20" century architectural styles, continue to characterize the area
as a historic settlement and are a reminder of the historical role that Palermo Village played as a
transportation hub and in the development of agriculture in Trafalgar Township. Furthermore,
the dwelling has a historic link to the commercial history of Palermo as it was home to the Wood
family that ran the general store that was formerly located closeby at the corner of Dundas
Street West and Old Bronte Road.
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Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes of the house at 2487 Old Bronte Road that exemplify its value as a representative
example of a vernacular Edwardian dwelling associated with the development of Palermo,
include the following:

Form of the two and a half storey house;

Hipped roof with hipped front central dormer (not including windowy);

Brick exterior cladding;

Fenestration pattern on the front facade including the cut stone sills and brick flat arches;
and,

e Front entrance porch, including its square wood half columns with brick bases, hip roof
and entrance location.

17
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Appendix A: Summary of Land Transactions for 2487 Old Bronte Road (1808 to 2007)

Date Instrument Grantor Grantee Comments
Oct. 18, Patent Crown Bildad Simons Lot 30, Concession 1
1808 SDS, 200 acres
Feb. 22, Bargain & Sale Bildad Simons Charles Teetzel Part of Lot 30,
1812 Concession 1 SDS, 90
acres
Jan. 2, Bargain & Sale Charles Teetzel Robert Miller % of an acre in NW
1843 half of Lot 30,
Concession 1 SDS
(25 pounds)
Sept. 11, | Bargain & Sale Robert Miller Hugh McCullough % of an acre in Lot 30,
1844 Concession 1 SDS
(150 pounds)
July 8, Bargain & Sale Hugh McCullough Benjamin Swanton % of an acre in Lot 30,
1854 (Carpenter & Joiner) | Concession 1 SDS
(75 pounds)
Apr. 10, Bargain & Sale Benjamin Swanton John Speers % of an acre in Lot 30,
1858 (Carpenter) Concession 1 SDS
($350)
Oct. 12, Bargain & Sale John Speers Thomas Robinson % of an acre in Lot 30,
1858 (Moulder) Concession 1 SDS
($350)
Sept. 17, Quit Claim Deed | Ann Eliza Thomas E. Robinson | % of an acre in Lot 30,
1895 Glendinning et al Concession 1 SDS
(heirs of the late
Thomas Robinson)
Oct. 29, Bargain & Sale Thomas E. Robinson | Thomas Garner % of an acre in Lot 30,
1895 (Wagon Maker) Concession 30 SDS
($150)
Jan. 6, Bargain & Sale Thomas Garner Mary Ann Harrod % of an acre in Lot 30,
1905 Concession 30 SDS
(5175)
Nov.13, Grant Samuel Harrod et al George Stanley % of an acre in Lot 30,
1924 (estate of the late Wood Concession 30 SDS
Mary Ann Harrod) (Merchant) (S1 with purchase
(S. Harrod was a price of land and
Labourer) premises stated as
being $550)
Nov. 20, Grant Estate of the late Fanny Ethel Wood % of an acre in Lot 30,
1946 George Stanley Concession 30 SDS
Wood (1)
Oct.2, Deed Fanny Ethel Wood Tobias Hogeveen Lot 30, Concession 1
1979 SDS
(52)
Aug. 10, Grant HMTQ rep. for Tobias Hogeveen Part 2 on Plan 20R-358
1984 Province of Ontario (north portion of
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current parcel of 2487
Old Bronte Rd)

Carmini Ramya
Fernando

Apr. 15, Deed Tobias Hogeveen Sally Hogeveen Part 2 on Plan 20R-
1986 (owner of 2477 OId 7258
Bronte Rd parcel) (now north portion of
2477 Old Bronte Rd)
Aug. 23, Transfer Tobias Hogeveen Murray Alan Part Lot 30,
1989 Farncombe in trust Concession 1 SDS; Part
1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
Sept. 8, Transfer Murray Alan Southcombe Part Lot 30,
1989 Farncombe in trust Management Corp Concession 1 SDS; Part
1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
Oct.14, Transfer Southcombe Kulla Associates in Part Lot 30,
1997 Management Corp trust Concession 1 SDS; Part
(1/2 interest) 1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
Mar. 16, Transfer Kulla & Associates Gary Reed and Part Lot 30,
2006 Annette Maynard Concession 1 SDS; Part
1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
Mar. 16, Transfer Southcombe Kulla Associates Part Lot 30,
2006 Management Corp Concession 1 SDS; Part
1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
Jan. 31, Transfer Gary Reed and Koruwage Jayanaga Part Lot 30,
2007 Annette Maynard Fernando and Concession 1 SDS; Part

1 Ref Plan 20R-7258;
Part 1 Ref Plan 20R-
6419
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Appendix B: Assessment and Collector Roll Scans for 2487 Old Bronte Road

for the Municipality of

Figure 1: 1917 Assessment Roll data (see second row from top for Samuel Harrod, owner of 2487
Old Bronte Road in 1917)

Assessment Roll for the Municipality of

Figure 2: 1919 Assessment Roll data (see first row at top for Samuel Harrod, owner of 2487 Old
Bronte Road in 1919)
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Figure 3: Collector’s Roll data for 1925 (see sixth row from the top for Stanley Wood, owner of
2487 Old Bronte Road in 1925)

Figure 4: Collector’s Roll data for 1932 (see sixth row from the top for Stanley Wood, owner of
2487 Old Bronte Road in 1932)
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